STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Greenville County  
Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

---

**RECEIVED**  
**Mar 01 2021**  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

THOMAS CHARLES FELTON JONES,

APPELLANT.

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2020-000108

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

JOHN CHRISTOPHER SHIPMAN  
SC Bar No. 100747

ANDRE TA NGUYEN  
SC Bar No. 102084

Assistant Public Defenders

Greenville County Public Defender Office  
305 E. North St., Ste. 123  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-8522

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the court erred when it denied Appellant's motion to find Greenville County Ordinance § 15-10 unconstitutionally overbroad on its face because the ordinance makes unlawful a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct, chilling the exercise of free expression.
  
- II. Whether the court erred when it denied Appellant's motion to find Greenville County Ordinance § 15-10 unconstitutionally vague on its face either because the terms of the ordinance are so vague that people of common intelligence must necessarily guess at its meaning and differ as to its application; or because the terms of the ordinance authorize or even encourage arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement.
  
- III. Whether Greenville County Ordinance § 15-10 is preempted by state law.
  
- IV. Whether the court erred when it denied Appellant's motion to find that Greenville County Ordinance § 15-10 was unconstitutional as applied to the defendant because he was punished for criticizing police.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted for a single count of Resisting Arrest with Assault and a single count of Interfering with a County Law Enforcement Officer by a Greenville County Grand Jury on August 20, 2019. The indictment alleged the offense was committed on July 21, 2018. R. pp. 81-82. On January 14, 2020 Appellant was called to trial before the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell and a jury. Appellant was represented by Andre Ta Nguyen and Jacob Goldstein. The State was represented by Julia Virginia Hendricks. R. p. 1.

Prior to trial, Appellant moved to dismiss the charges against him because the Greenville County Ordinance pursuant to which he was charged was unconstitutionally overbroad and vague, in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the Due Process Clauses of the United States and South Carolina Constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. V; S.C. Const. art. I, § 3. R. p. 4, line 15 - R. p. 12, line 1. Appellant also submitted a written motion outlining his objections to the ordinance. R. pp. 74-80. Appellant relied primarily upon the case of City of Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 451 (1987), for overbreadth, and upon the cases Town of Honea Path v. Flynn, 255 S.C. 32, 176 S.E.2d 564 (1970), and Hill v. Colorado, 530 U.S. 703 (2000), for vagueness. At the end of the State's case, Appellant renewed his motions and also moved to have the ordinance invalidated as applied. R. p. 63, lines 17-20. The trial judge denied all the motions. R. p. 65, lines 12-16. Appellant did not put on a case-in-chief.

After the trial, Appellant was found guilty of Interfering with a County Law Enforcement Officer and not guilty of Resisting Arrest with Assault. R. p. 66, lines 4-8. Appellant was sentenced to 30 days and a fine of \$1,000, provided that upon the service of 10 days (weekend time) and payment of \$500, plus costs and assessments, the balance was suspended. R. 70, lines 20-25. Appellant served Notice of Appeal on January 21, 2020. This appeal follows.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was arrested on July 21, 2018, by Deputy Jonathan Cooper of the Greenville County Sheriff's Department for resisting arrest with assault (S.C. Code Ann. § 16-9-320(B)) and hindering a county law enforcement officer (Greenville County Ordinance § 15-10). R. pp. 25-27; 47-49. That ordinance states:

It shall be unlawful for any person within the unincorporated area of [Greenville] [C]ounty to commit an assault, battery or by any act, physical or verbal, resist, hinder, impede or interfere with any law enforcement officer in the lawful discharge of his or her duty, or to aid or abet any such act.

Greenville County Ordinance §15-10.

Appellant's arrest was based on an interaction between himself and Deputy Charles Lancaster, of the Greenville County Sheriff's Department. R. pp. 25; 47-49. Deputies Lancaster and Cooper initiated a traffic stop on Shontona Enicha Williams outside Appellant's house. R. pp. 23; 44-45. Appellant came out from the rear of his house and approached the traffic stop. R. pp. 23-24; 45-47. Deputies Lancaster and Cooper testified that he requested Appellant to back up, as Appellant approached. R. pp. 25; 48-49. This claim was challenged on cross examination, when Deputy Lancaster was unable to identify a recorded instance of asking Appellant to back away until the moment immediately before Appellant's arrest. R. pp. 56-58.

Deputies Lancaster and Cooper testified that he wanted Appellant to back away because a large group of people were standing nearby. R. pp. 23-24; 46; 49. The deputies disagreed about the size of the crowd. Deputy Cooper testified that "there was approximately 20 to 30 subjects." R. p. 24, lines 6-7. Deputy Lancaster testified there were "five to ten, maybe more." R. p. 46, line 18. Appellant disagreed about the size of the crowd as well. State's Exhibit #2 at 4:14. R. p. 73.

Appellant peacefully asked the officers why Williams was pulled over. R. pp. 25; 47-48. Deputy Lancaster responded that Williams failed to use her turn signals while making turns. State's

Exhibit #2 at 1:55, 2:30. R. p. 73. At this point, Deputy Lancaster inquired if Appellant needed anything. State's Exhibit #2 at 2:47. R. p. 73. Appellant informed Deputy Lancaster that he and Williams were friends and that Williams was staying at his house for the night. State's Exhibit #2 at 2:55-3:01. R. p. 73. Appellant informed Deputy Lancaster that he and the other deputy were at his property. State's Exhibit #2 at 2:59. R. p. 73. During this time, Appellant took a few steps back. State's Exhibit #2 at 3:08. R. p. 73.

Williams and Deputy Cooper discussed the traffic stop. State's Exhibit #2 at 3:15-4:10. R. p. 73. As this was happening, more officers arrived pursuant to an earlier call for back up. State's Exhibit #2 at 4:10. R. p. 73. At this time, Appellant stated, "they know damn well there was no big group of people out here." State's Exhibit #2 at 4:14. R. p. 73. Deputy Lancaster appeared to become agitated and demanded that Appellant go away or be arrested for interfering. State's Exhibit #2 at 4:17. R. p. 73. Deputy Lancaster eventually admitted, on cross-examination, that he heard Appellant's statement and that at that point he wanted Appellant to go away. R. p. 59, lines 1-18. Appellant refused, stating that it was his house. State's Exhibit #2 at 4:18. R. p. 73. Both deputies proceeded to arrest him for "interfering," eleven seconds after his critical statement. State's Exhibit #2 at 4:25. R. p. 73.

Deputy Cooper testified that Deputy Lancaster, at some point between the start of the traffic stop and Appellant's arrest, informed Appellant that "recording is fine but step away, you're too close, you're interfering." R. p. 25, lines 11-12.

Deputy Lancaster later testified that:

I remember giving him multiple verbal warnings of look, you can go over there, you don't need to be questioning what we're doing here, this is, essentially a crime scene, we're investigating a crime that occurred, you need to go back over to where you came from. You don't need to be asking us any questions at this time.

R. p. 48, lines 11-18. On cross-examination, however, Deputy Lancaster was unable to identify a single recorded instance of asking Appellant to go away or informing Appellant that he was too close until seconds before his arrest. R. pp. 56-58.

Deputy Cooper testified concerning the Sheriff's Department's policies and procedures regarding proximity of bystanders. R.p. 28. Deputy Cooper testified that interference is committed whenever any bystander's presence distracts him from the crime scene or investigation. R. p. 28, lines 10-15. Deputy Cooper testified later that "interfering is when a defendant, person, whoever, if they take my attention away from the investigation. So therefore, hindering me from doing my job." R. p. 29, lines 21-24. On cross-examination, Deputy Cooper admitted that, in his view of the law, no physical contact was necessary to commit interference, that mere presence could constitute the offense. R. p. 38, lines 13-18. Deputy Cooper testified that Appellant's "walking up and talking" loud enough to be heard constituted the offense, because:

I'm now having to take my attention off just [Williams] and now trying to run everything on my computer so on and so forth. Well now, I have some random person just walking up that I don't know from Adam. So therefore, my attention is divided away from what I need to be doing.

R. p. 40, lines 18-24. Deputy Lancaster also testified that physical presence is enough for interfering. R. pp. 59-60.

## STANDARD OF REVIEW

A facial challenge is an attack on a statute itself rather than a particular application and requires the challenger to show that the legislation is unconstitutional in all applications. State v. Legg, 416 S.C. 9, 13-14, 785 S.E.2d 369, 371 (2016). An as-applied challenge claims that the “application of the statute in the particular context in which [the challenger] has acted . . . [was] unconstitutional.” Doe v. State, 421 S.C. 490, 503, 808 S.E.2d 807, 813 (2017). However, “finding [an ordinance] unconstitutional as applied . . . does not affect the facial validity of that provision.” Id. Instead, “[t]he practical effect . . . is to prevent its future application in a similar context, but not to render it utterly inoperative.” Id. at 503, 514.

“In criminal cases, an appellate court sits to review only errors of law . . . .” State v. Black, 400 S.C. 10, 16, 732 S.E.2d 880, 884 (2012). “Appellate courts review questions of law de novo.” State v. Whitner, 399 S.C. 547, 552, 732 S.E.2d 861, 863 (2012). The constitutionality of an ordinance is a matter of law. See Ward v. State, 343 S.C. 14, 538 S.E.2d 245 (2000). “When the issue is the constitutionality of a statute, every presumption will be made in favor of its validity and no statute will be declared unconstitutional unless its invalidity appears so clearly as to leave no doubt that it conflicts with the constitution.” State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 549-50, 564 S.E.2d 87, 89-90 (2002).

Where the government criminalizes constitutionally protected speech and conduct, the reviewing court must apply strict scrutiny. Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. 601, 611-12 (1973); see State v. Green, 397 S.C. 268, 276, 724 S.E.2d 664, 668 (2012). Similarly, where a vague criminal sanction threatens to inhibit protected speech or conduct, a stringent test will apply. Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, 455 U.S. 489, 498 (1982); Town of Honea Path v. Flynn, 255 S.C. 32, 39, 176 S.E.2d 564, 567.

## ARGUMENT FOR FACIAL CHALLENGES

- I. Greenville County Ordinance § 15-10 is unconstitutionally overbroad in violation of the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article I, § 2 of the South Carolina Constitution because the ordinance makes unlawful a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct, chilling the exercise of free expression.

### **Relevant Facts**

Greenville County Deputies made a traffic stop in Appellant's yard. R. pp. 23; 44-45. The driver had intended to stay the night with Appellant. State's Exhibit #2 at 2:55-3:01. R. p. 73. Defendant came out of the house to question the officers who had stopped his friend. R. pp. 24; 47-48. The deputies called for back-up, saying that a large crowd was gathered nearby. R. pp. 23-24; 46; 49. One officer claimed that there were twenty to thirty people. R. p. 24, lines 6-7. The other claimed that there were five to ten. R. p. 46, line 18. Appellant continued to ask questions of the officer, peacefully and without being arrested. R. pp. 25; 47-48. But when back-up arrived, Appellant was incredulous, and he spoke out. "They know damn well there was no big group of people here," he stated. State's Exhibit #2 at 4:14. R. p. 73. Seconds later, Appellant found himself under arrest. Deputy Lancaster admitted to hearing the criticism and then deciding to arrest appellant. R. p. 59, lines 1-18. It was only when Appellant decided to speak out about what he considered an overblown police response that the nature of his interaction with the deputies changed. When he started criticizing, Appellant was immediately elevated from concerned citizen to wrongdoer in the eyes of the police.

Prior to trial, Appellant moved to dismiss the charges against him because the Greenville County Ordinance pursuant to which he was charged was unconstitutionally overbroad, impinging his right to free speech in violation of the state and federal Constitutions. U.S. Const. amend. I; U.S. Const. amend. XIV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 2. R. p. 4, line 15 – R. p. 12, line 1. Appellant also submitted a written motion outlining his objections to the Greenville County Ordinance. As to the overbreadth

doctrine, Appellant relied primarily upon the United States Supreme Court decision in City of Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 451. R. pp. 77-78.

## **Discussion**

The trial court erred by not finding Greenville County Ordinance § 15-10 unconstitutionally overbroad on its face. The decision is controlled by the reasoning in City of Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. 451. In that case, the United States Supreme Court invalidated a Houston ordinance which prohibited speech which interfered with police “in any manner.” Id. at 462-63. In so doing, the Court held that because the ordinance was not limited to fighting words or even obscenity, it was necessarily overbroad and unconstitutional. Id. The same reasoning was applied persuasively in two United States District Court cases invalidating similar ordinances in Columbia and Turbeville. McCoy v. City of Columbia, 929 F. Supp. 2d 541, 547 (D.S.C. 2013); Baker v. Cannon, No. 2:15-cv-01471-DCN, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 132987 (D.S.C. Sep. 28, 2016). The Greenville County Ordinance is effectively identical to, if not broader than, those challenged and voided in these cases. Appellant argues that the same result should have been reached in his case.

### ***Overbreadth Doctrine Overview***

The First Amendment to the United States Constitution, made applicable to the states through the Fourteenth Amendment, prohibits governments from making any law abridging the freedom of speech. Criminal ordinances which “make unlawful a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct may be held facially invalid even if they also have legitimate application.” City of Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. at 459.

The overbreadth doctrine exists to give force to the constitutional protections of the First Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, § 2 of the South Carolina Constitution. As such, its applicability is not dependent upon the individual litigant before the court but rather on

the nature of the government's enactment and its effect upon the free exercise of the right generally. The overbreadth doctrine "is predicated on the sensitive nature of protected expression: persons whose expression is constitutionally protected may well refrain from exercising their rights for fear of criminal sanctions by a statute susceptible of application to protected expression." New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. 747, 768 (1982); State v. Green, 397 S.C. at 276-77, 724 S.E.2d at 668.

Thus, because the doctrine exists to protect the freedom of speech itself, rather than the narrow interests of a single person, "[I]tigators . . . are permitted to challenge a statute not because their own rights of free expression are violated, but because of a judicial prediction or assumption that the statute's very existence may cause others not before the court to refrain from constitutionally protected speech or expression." Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. at 612. This is true even if the challenger's own conduct could have been punishable. See New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. at 769.

Courts have cautioned against the excessive application of the overbreadth doctrine to invalidate statutes and ordinances. See Broadrick v. Oklahoma, 413 U.S. at 613. As such, only those ordinances which are "substantially overbroad" should be overturned pursuant to facial challenges. See City of Houston v. Hill, 482 U.S. at 458.

The requirement of substantial overbreadth is directly derived from the purpose and nature of the doctrine. While a sweeping statute, or one incapable of limitation, has the potential to repeatedly chill the exercise of expressive activity by many individuals, the extent of deterrence of protected speech can be expected to decrease with the declining reach of the regulation.

New York v. Ferber, 458 U.S. at 772. "[T]he crucial question . . . is whether the ordinance sweeps within its prohibitions what may not be punished under the First and Fourteenth Amendments." Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. 104, 114-15 (1972).

There is authority, however, to suggest that where a statute or ordinance regulates "pure speech," then the necessity for "substantial overbreadth" may be lessened. In Broadrick v.

Oklahoma, the United States Supreme Court discussed the difficulty in determining when a law may be properly voided on its face. The Broadrick Court conceived of a spectrum ranging from “conduct” through “expressive conduct” to “pure speech.” The need to show “substantial overbreadth” lessens as the challenged prohibitions move from “conduct” to “pure speech.” As the Court summarized it:

[T]he plain import of our cases is . . . that facial overbreadth adjudication is an exception to our traditional rules of practice and that its function . . . attenuates as the otherwise unprotected behavior that it forbids the State to sanction moves from “pure speech” toward conduct and that conduct -- even if expressive -- falls within the scope of otherwise valid criminal laws that reflect legitimate state interests in maintaining comprehensive controls over harmful, constitutionally unprotected conduct. To put the matter another way, particularly where conduct and not merely speech is involved, we believe that the overbreadth of a statute must not only be real, but substantial as well, judged in relation to the statute’s plainly legitimate sweep.

413 U.S. at 615-16.

Taken together, the decisions in City of Houston v. Hill, New York v. Ferber, Broadrick v. Oklahoma, and Grayned v. City of Rockford, stand for the proposition that where a government attempts to regulate certain conduct which may coincidentally impinge protected expression, a challenger must show that the law sweeps in so much protected expressive conduct beyond what may be legitimately prohibited that the law is constitutionally intolerable and incapable of being saved by construction or limitation. At one end of the spectrum, propounded in Broadrick, a law may coincidentally sweep in some protected conduct but not enough to chill the exercise of the right in general. In such instances, where the risk of widespread violation of the right is minimal, case-by-case litigation may be sufficient to protect the rights of individuals and of the citizenry. Further along the spectrum, a law may sweep in so much protected conduct as to have a chilling effect on the general exercise of the right by the public at large. In such instances, the court may reason that case-by-case litigation is insufficient to ensure the free exercise of the right by the public and facially invalidate the law.

Further still along the spectrum are laws which directly prohibit speech. Broadrick stands for the proposition that, in those circumstances, where a law directly, and not merely coincidentally prohibits speech, the need to engage in “judicial prediction” is obviated or at least greatly attenuated. See id., 413 U.S. at 612. Consequently, the need to demonstrate “substantial overbreadth” is too.

As is the case where “pure speech” is at issue, special scrutiny is to be paid when criminal sanctions are imposed on protected conduct. “In the First Amendment context, criminal statutes must be scrutinized with particular care; those that make unlawful a substantial amount of constitutionally protected conduct may be held invalid even if they also have legitimate application.” State v. Ramsey, 311 S.C. 555, 560, 430 S.E.2d 511, 515 (1993) (internal citations omitted). Consequently, a law which attempts to regulate protected speech by way of criminal sanctions is doubly suspect and overbreadth even less tolerable. See Town of Honea Path v. Flynn, 255 S.C. at 40, 176 S.E.2d at 567 (“The vice of unconstitutional vagueness becomes aggravated where a statute operates to inhibit the exercise of individual freedoms effectively guaranteed by State and Federal Constitutions.”).

While the United States Supreme Court has cautioned against the excessive use of the overbreadth doctrine, it has also held that First Amendment guarantees are an especially sensitive area of law in which a court may act with greater latitude in order to guarantee the amendment’s integrity and free exercise. In Broadrick v. Oklahoma, the United States Supreme Court characterized this area of protection around the First Amendment as a “breathing space,” holding that “statutes attempting to restrict or burden the exercise of First Amendment rights must be narrowly drawn and represent a considered legislative judgment that a particular mode of expression has to give way to other compelling needs of society.” 413 U.S. at 611-612; accord NAACP v. Button, 371 U.S. 415, 466 (1963); State v. Green, 397 S.C. at 276, 724 S.E.2d at 668.

Governments are restricted in what they may legitimately do in this “breathing space.” Even well-defined prohibitions may run afoul of the Constitution. In Herndon v. Lowry, the United States Supreme Court held that:

The power of a state to abridge freedom of speech and of assembly is the exception rather than the rule and the penalizing even of utterances of a defined character must find its justification in a reasonable apprehension of danger to organized government. The judgment of the legislature is not unfettered. The limitation upon individual liberty must have appropriate relation to the safety of the state. Legislation which goes beyond this need violates the principle of the Constitution.

301 U.S. 242, 258 (1937).

In Shelton v. Tucker, the United States Supreme Court noted that it had decided, in a series of cases, that even where the government’s purpose is “legitimate and substantial, that purpose cannot be pursued by means that broadly stifle fundamental personal liberties when the end can be more narrowly achieved.” 364 U.S. 479, 488 (1960) (citing, inter alia, Schneider v. State, 308 U.S. 147, 161 (1939) (“Mere legislative preferences or beliefs respecting matters of public convenience may well support regulation directed at other personal activities, but be insufficient to justify such as diminishes the exercise of rights so vital to the maintenance of democratic institutions.”). “The breadth of legislative abridgment must be viewed in the light of less drastic means for achieving the same purpose.” Shelton v. Tucker, 364 U.S. at 488.

The United States Supreme Court has further held that, “in assessing the reasonableness of a regulation, we must weigh heavily the fact that communication is involved; the regulation must be narrowly tailored to further the State's legitimate interest . . . . Free expression must not, in the guise of regulation, be abridged or denied.” Grayned v. City of Rockford, 408 U.S. at 116-17.

### ***Overbreadth Doctrine Application***

In reviewing an overbreadth challenge to an ordinance on its face, a court must, as a preliminary matter, determine if the ordinance comprehends a substantial amount of constitutionally

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