RECEIVED

Mar 05 2021

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case Tracking No. 2020-000108

The State,

Respondent,

vs.

Thomas Charles Felton Jones,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

- I. The State concedes the Greenville County Ordinance in question in this appeal was improperly applied to Appellant based on the unique and specific facts of this case. As a result, Appellant's conviction should be reversed. Additionally, the State asks this Court not to address the constitutionality of the ordinance as it is unnecessary to this Court's decision.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in allowing the prosecution of Appellant under Greenville County Ordinance § 15-10. The State agrees that under the unique and specific facts of this case, the ordinance was improperly applied to Appellant. The ordinance was improperly applied to Appellant's actions as he was on his property, and his mere presence or criticism of the officer's decisions was insufficient to trigger application of the ordinance, based on the direct limiting language of the ordinance.

The Greenville County Ordinance in question reads in full:

§ 15-10 INTERFERING WITH A COUNTY LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICER.

(a) Purpose. The purpose of the section is to make it unlawful and to provide a penalty for interfering with any county law enforcement officer in the lawful discharge of his or her duty.

(b) Prohibition. It shall be unlawful for any person within the unincorporated area of county to commit an assault, battery or by any act, physical or verbal, resist, hinder, impede or interfere with any law enforcement officer in the lawful discharge of his or her duty, or to aid or abet any such act.

(c) Penalty.

(1) A violation of this section shall constitute a misdemeanor and shall be punished within the jurisdictional limits of magistrate's court.

(2) Each day or portion thereof during which any violation of the provisions of this section is committed or continued shall constitute a separate offense.

(d) Exceptions. This section shall not apply to constitutionally protected conduct such as the peaceful questioning or protesting of government action.

(e) Severability. If any section, subsection, or clause of this section shall be deemed to be unconstitutional or otherwise invalid, the validity of the remaining sections, subsections and clauses shall not be affected thereby.

(f) Effective date. This section shall take effect upon the date of its adoption.

Greenville County Ordinance § 15-10 (emphasis added).¹

Appellant challenges the constitutionality of this ordinance. “As with other legislative enactments, ordinances are accorded a presumption of constitutionality which the attacking party has the burden of overcoming. Our decisions have generally applied this presumption even when an ordinance is challenged on First Amendment grounds.” Centaur, Inc. v. Richland Cty., 301 S.C. 374, 377, 392 S.E.2d 165, 167 (1990) (internal citation omitted).

The South Carolina Supreme Court recently considered the difference in a facial challenge and an “as applied” challenge to the constitutionality of a statute²:

“A facial challenge is an attack on a statute itself as opposed to a particular application.” Consequently, in analyzing a facial challenge to the constitutional validity of a statute, a court “considers only the text of the measure itself and not its application to the particular circumstances of an individual.”

One asserting a facial challenge claims that the law is “invalid *in toto*—and therefore incapable of any valid application.” This type of challenge is “the most difficult challenge to mount successfully, since the challenger must establish that no set of circumstances exists under which the [statute] would be valid.”

¹ Located at https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/greenvillecounty/latest/greenvilleco_sc/0-0-0-5669#JD_15-10

² Appellant makes both a facial challenge to the ordinance as a whole as well as an “as applied” challenge to its application to Appellant based on the specific facts of this case. The State asks this Court to reverse based solely on the improper application of the ordinance to Appellant. Additionally, the same analysis and considerations apply whether it is a state statute or a county ordinance involved.

Thus, “[u]nless the statute is unconstitutional in all its applications, an as-applied challenge must be used to attack its constitutionality.”

Doe v. State, 421 S.C. 490, 502–03, 808 S.E.2d 807, 813 (2017) (internal citations omitted). The

Court continued and explained an “as applied” challenge:

In an “as-applied” challenge, the party challenging the constitutionality of the statute claims that the “application of the statute in the particular context in which he has acted, or in which he proposes to act, would be unconstitutional.” However, “finding a statute or regulation unconstitutional as applied to a specific party does not affect the facial validity of that provision.” Instead, “[t]he practical effect of holding a statute unconstitutional ‘as applied’ is to prevent its future application in a similar context, but not to render it utterly inoperative.”

Id. at 503, 808 S.E.2d at 813-814 (internal citations omitted).

Additionally, the United States Supreme Court has recognized that the freedom of speech also includes a freedom to criticize or question officials and police. The Court has stated: “Speech is often provocative and challenging. . . . [F]reedom of speech, though not absolute, is nevertheless protected against censorship or punishment, unless shown likely to produce a clear and present danger of a serious substantive evil that rises far above public inconvenience, annoyance, or unrest.” Terminiello v. City of Chicago, 337 U.S. 1, 4, 69 S. Ct. 894, 896, 93 L. Ed. 1131 (1949). “[T]he First Amendment protects a significant amount of verbal criticism and challenge directed at police officers.” City of Houston, Tex. v. Hill, 482 U.S. 451, 461, 107 S. Ct. 2502, 2509, 96 L. Ed. 2d 398 (1987). Further, our United States Supreme Court has stated: “[T]he freedom to loiter for innocent purposes is part of the ‘liberty’ protected by the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.” City of Chicago v. Morales, 527 U.S. 41, 53, 119 S. Ct. 1849, 1857, 144 L. Ed. 2d 67 (1999).

Additionally, because Appellant was on his own property at the time, he had significantly more rights than a person in a public space. Our case law has long established the sanctity of one’s

home and the right of the owner to use the property and enjoy the property as he sees fit with little limitations. See e.g., U.S. Const. amend. IV (“The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated”); Entick v. Carrington, 95 Eng. Rep. 807, 817 (C.P. 1765) (A case our United States Supreme Court has recognized as monumental in its holding that “[O]ur law holds the property of every man so sacred, that no man can set his foot upon his neighbour's close without his leave; if he does he is a trespasser, though he does no damage at all; if he will tread upon his neighbour's ground, he must justify it by law.”); United States v. Karo, 468 U.S. 705, 729, 104 S. Ct. 3296, 3310, 82 L. Ed. 2d 530 (1984) (“The owner of property , of course, has a right to exclude from it all the world, including the Government, and a concomitant right to use it exclusively for his own purposes.”); see also, State v. Counts, 413 S.C .153, 776 S.E.2d 59 (2015) (finding the South Carolina Constitution under Article I, section 10, provides a heightened right of privacy compared to the United States Constitution, and finding reasonable suspicion required to conduct a “knock and talk” because of the heightened right to privacy in one’s home in South Carolina).

Under the specific and limited facts of this case, the application of the ordinance to Appellant improperly limited his right to freedom of speech and his right to freely be on his property. The relevant facts are as found in the two bodycam videos played for the jury. Officer Cooper and Lancaster pulled over a driver for failing to put on her turn signal. She pulled up next to the house of Appellant with whom she was purportedly staying that night. After she was out of the car and interacting with the officers, Appellant walked up from beside or behind the house. He had a cell phone in his hands with the flashlight turned on, presumably video recording the interaction. Officer Lancaster called for backup as Appellant walked up, indicating they have a pretty big group of people with them. Appellant questioned the officer and the need for backup

and the officer noted Appellant just walked up and that there are “a couple people over there.” Appellant then questioned more about the reason for the stop. After asking if Appellant needs anything, Officer Lancaster is informed that Appellant lives at the house where the stop has occurred.

Appellant took a step back, without request from Officer Lancaster, as the officer also moved over. The interaction continued for over a minute without Appellant moving or the officer indicating any concern or displeasure about where Appellant was standing. As backup arrived, Appellant made a comment about the need for backup. Appellant did not move from the location where he stood and did not have any interaction at all with Officer Cooper who was the officer conducting the traffic stop of the woman visiting Appellant. Officer Lancaster asked Appellant if he needs to be here, and Appellant reminded him that it is his house and his property he is standing in. The officer told him he can move to the front of the house or he can be arrested for interference. Appellant indicated he is going to stay there on his property. The officers attempted to make an arrest, Appellant resisted, but Appellant was ultimately subdued. (State’s Exhibits 1 and 2).

Significantly, Appellant never moved from the spot where he stood and where both officers seemed comfortable with him standing. The officers never asked him to move farther away or to a different location until he questioned the need for backup. Officer Cooper questions the woman stopped, discusses with her the expiration of her insurance and the suspension of her license, and discusses where she was coming from and going that night. It is only after Appellant commented on the arrival of backup that Officer Lancaster demanded he move. The arrest does not appear to have been related to any physical or other interference with Officer Cooper’s ability to conduct the traffic stop, especially in light of the fact the investigation was first interrupted when Officer Lancaster announced he was placing Appellant under arrest.

Based on the explicit language of the ordinance, in particular subsection D, the arrest of Appellant for violation of the ordinance was neither valid nor consistent with the express language of the ordinance. The ordinance specifically prohibits application to “constitutionally protected conduct such as the peaceful questioning or protesting of government action” and this logically seems like it would be even more applicable when the person is standing in his own property. As a result, the State asks this Court to declare the arrest of Appellant for violation of the ordinance invalid and reverse his conviction and sentence.

Further, the Court should not address the constitutionality of the ordinance because it is unnecessary to rendering a decision. The United States Supreme Court has indicated the determination of the constitutionality of an act is “only in the last resort.” Chicago & G.T. Ry. Co. v. Wellman, 143 U.S. 339, 345, 12 S. Ct. 400, 402, 36 L. Ed. 176 (1892). “It is not the habit of the court to decide questions of a constitutional nature unless absolutely necessary to a decision of the case.” Burton v. United States, 196 U.S. 283, 295, 25 S. Ct. 243, 245, 49 L. Ed. 482 (1905). “Where a case in this court can be decided without reference to questions arising under the Federal Constitution, that course is usually pursued and is not departed from without important reasons.” Siler v. Louisville & N.R. Co., 213 U.S. 175, 193, 29 S. Ct. 451, 455, 53 L. Ed. 753 (1909).

The South Carolina Supreme Court has stated: “it is this Court’s firm policy to decline to rule on constitutional issues unless such a ruling is required.” In re McCracken, 346 S.C. 87, 92, 551 S.E.2d 235, 238 (2001); see also, Morris v. Anderson Cty., 349 S.C. 607, 610–11, 564 S.E.2d 649, 651 (2002) (refusing to issue “an advisory ruling . . . on a constitutional issue” finding to do so “would violate our firm policy of declining to reach constitutional issues unless necessary to the resolution of the appeal before us.”). “The Court will avoid, when possible, passing upon the constitutionality of an Act of the Legislature.” Sanders v. Anderson Cty., 195 S.C. 171, 10 S.E.2d

364, 364 (1940). This Court has found that where a ruling on one issue is dispositive, “we therefore refrain from ruling on the constitutional questions raised.” Riverwoods, LLC v. Cty. of Charleston, 349 S.C. 378, 387, 563 S.E.2d 651, 656 (2002).

In the instant case, the State concedes, and this Court should find, the ordinance was applied improperly to Appellant, especially in light of subsection D and the specific and unique facts of this case where it appears the arrest was either for being merely present or for exercising his First Amendment right to criticize the officers while standing on his own property. As a result, the Court need not address—and the State asks the Court not to address in this case—the facial challenges to the constitutionality of the Greenville County Ordinance.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that Appellant's conviction and sentence for violation of the Greenville County Ordinance be reversed based on the circumstances of this case and the improper application of the ordinance.